IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MELVIN ALESICH

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-00875

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Benjamin A. Suber, MS Bar No. 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Melvin Alesich

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MELVIN ALESICH

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-00875

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
ISSUE NO. 1 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO OFFER JURY INSTRUCTION S-1, EFFECTIVELY ALTERING THE INDICTMENT
OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Amiker v. Drugs For Less, Inc., 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss.2000)
<u>Bush v. State</u> , 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005)
<u>Greenlee v. State</u> , 725 So.2d 816, 819 (Miss. 1998)
<u>Hawthorne v. State</u> , 883 So.2d 86 (Miss. 2004)
<u>Hennington v. State</u> , 702 So.2d 403, 408 (Miss.1997)
<u>Herring v. State</u> , 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997)
<u>Jones v. State</u> , 798 So.2d 1241, 1250 (Miss. 2001)
McQueen v. State, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss.1982)
Medina v. State, 688 So.2d 727, 730 (Miss.1996)
Miller v. State, 740 So.2d 858, 862 (Miss. 1999)
Quick v. State, 569 So.2d 1197 (Miss.1990)
Rhymes v. State, 638 So.2d 1270, 1275 (Miss. 1994)
Rushing v. State, 753 So.2d 1136, 1145 (Miss. 2000)
<u>Shelby v. State</u> , 246 So.2d 543, 545 (Miss. 1971)
Spears v. State, 942 So 2d 772, 773 (Miss, 2006)

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MELVIN ALESICH

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-00875-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO OFFER JURY INSTRUCTION S-1, EFFECTIVELY ALTERING THE INDICTMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING ALESICH'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction of Burglary. Melvin Alesich was sentenced to twenty-five (25) years as a habitual offender with the custody of the Department of Corrections, following a jury

trial on May 7, 2008, Honorable John H. Whitfield, presiding. Alesich is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

According to trial testimony of Eva Stephens, Stephens claimed that Melvin Alesich entered her home through her bedroom window at approximately 4:00 a.m. on or about August 10, 1996. Tr. 74. Stephens testified that she met Alesich at the Wet Willies water slide in Gulfport, Mississippi, and gave him her phone number. Id. The first contact she had with Alesich, after their initial meeting, was when she invited him over to one of her girlfriend's homes. After spending some time there, Alesich took Stephens back to her house. Tr. 71. After speaking with Alesich on the phone, Stephens met with Alesich a second time, inviting him to a cook out. She stated she was having a barbeque with her neighbors and asked Alesich to attend. Alesich accepted the invitation and spent the evening with Stephens talking. Tr. 72. She testified that the third time she came into contact with Alesich was when he showed up to her home unannounced. Stephens testified she was preparing to go to her girlfriend's house on this occasion as well. She says she invited Alesich to join her. She says they stayed at her girlfriend's home for a while before returning to her home. Id. At this time she testified that she told Alesich she was not interested in seeing him anymore based on the things he had shared with her from his past. Id. Stephens stated that was the last time she spoke with Alesich and that he said he was okay with her decision. Id.

inside and outside the home, and from a chair found outside Stephens bedroom window, but was unable to do so. Tr. 97, 101.

Officer Lynette Woodard, another patrolman with the Gulfport Police Department, received a despatch giving the name of the Appellant and a description of his vehicle. She testified that she spotted a truck fitting that description and ran the tag. Tr. 106. When the tag came back, it was registered to the name Melvin Alesich. Tr. 107. She says she spotted the truck parked on 41st Avenue just north of 8th Street. Id. Although no one was in the truck, Officer Woodard says the keys were still in the ignition. Officer Woodard removed the keys and began walking south down the block. Tr. 114. She says it was at this point she heard a noise and then saw a man coming from behind a house walking towards his truck. Tr. 108. She testified that when she asked the man his name he said "Melvin Alesich". According to Officer Woodard's testimony, as she was handcuffing Alesich, he stated that he was "just trying to get Miss Eve's attention." Tr. 110. At this point Officer Woodard put the Appellant in the back of her patrol car and took him to the victim's house. When they arrived to Stephen's house, she identified Alesich as the man who had come through her window. Id.

When Detective Claud Guinn with the Gulfport Police Department took the stand, he testified that he arrived to the scene and spoke with Stephens. He then says he met Officer Parrish at the back of the house to observe the entry and exit point. He says around this time he received a call that Alesich had been located. Tr. 118. Detective Guinn explained he went to the station to speak with Alesich. According to Detective Guinn, Alesich did not want to

make a statement so after he was processed, they put him in the Adult Detention Facility. *Id.* Detective Guinn also testified that when he observed Stephens, her left eye was bruised and was swelling. He says he took pictures. *Id.* It was Detective Guinn's testimony that no fingerprints or footprints were lifted from the house, nothing from the house was stolen, and there was no indication any crime was committed inside the house. Tr. 125.

On May 5, 1997, the jury in this case found Melvin Alesich guilty of burglary of a dwelling. As a result, Alesich was sentenced as a habitual offender to 25 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections without the possibility of parole or early release. Tr. 171.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant, Melvin Alesich submits that jury instruction S-1 was an indirect amendment to the indictment. The amendment at issue was substantive in nature, materially changed an element of the original offense charged, materially altered the defense to the indictment and was reversible error as it circumvented the authority of the grand jury.

Alesich, is entitled to a reversal of his case and a new trial. The evidence presented did not warrant a verdict of guilty. No scientific or physical evidence was presented at trial linking Alesich to the alleged burglary on the night in question. The only evidence identifying Alesich was from the victim Stephens. The verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and Alesich is entitled to a new trial.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO OFFER JURY INSTRUCTION S-1, EFFECTIVELY ALTERING THE INDICTMENT

In reviewing a claim of error in whether the indictment is defective is a question of law, and the standard of review for a question of law is a de novo standard. *Spears v. State*, 942 So.2d 772, 773 (Miss. 2006). "The rule concerning indictments is that they cannot be amended to change the nature of the charge, except by the grand jury." *Jones v. State*, 798 So.2d 1241, 1250 (Miss. 2001), *Miller v. State*, 740 So.2d 858, 862 (Miss. 1999) (*citing Greenlee v. State*, 725 So.2d 816, 819 (Miss. 1998). "Any amendment not approved by the grand jury must be of form only and must not affect the substance of the charge pending." *Jones*, 798 So.2d at 1250, *Rhymes v. State*, 638 So.2d 1270, 1275 (Miss. 1994). "[A] change in the indictment is permissible if it does not materially alter facts which are the essence of the offense on the face of the indictment as it originally stood or materially alter a defense to the indictment as it originally stood so as to prejudice the defendant's case." *Id* (*quoting Shelby v. State*, 246 So.2d 543, 545 (Miss. 1971)).

The indictment stated that "on or about August 10, 1996, did unlawfully, wilfully, feloniously and burglariously break and enter the dwelling house of Eva Stephens, located at 4113 8th Street, Gulfport, Mississippi, with the intent to steal personal property therein." C.P. 7, R.E. 13 Jury instruction S-1, which was objected to by trial counsel, stated that "the Defendant, Melvin Alesich intended once inside the dwelling to commit some crime therein."

Tr. 137 C.P. 35 R.E. 17. Alesich originally had to prove that he did not commit a burglary because he had no intent to steal any personal property. However at trial, Alesich had to change his defensive strategy because the state changed the wording of the indictment in the jury instructions to commit some crime.

By allowing jury instruction S-1 to be given, the indictment was indirectly amended. By amending the indictment, Alesich was not allowed to defend himself against the charges that were charged in the indictment. In *Quick v. State*, 569 So.2d 1197 (Miss.1990), the Supreme Court held that "the state can prosecute only on the indictment returned by the grand jury and . . . the court has no authority to modify or amend the indictment in any material respect." *Rushing v. State*, 753 So.2d 1136, 1145 (Miss. 2000).

Also, "[u]nder the holding of *Quick*, the trial court may not directly, or indirectly amend the indictment to alter the substance of the charges against the defendant. By giving jury instruction C-7, the trial court indirectly amended the indictment, by dropping the serious bodily injury element of [section] 97-3-7(2)(a), and substituting the deadly weapon element of [section] 97-3-7(2)(b)." *Rushing*, 753 So.2d at 1146; *Quick*, 569 So.2d at 1199.

In order to determine whether an amendment is one of form or of substance, and whether a party was prejudiced by the amendment, the court must determine:

[W]hether an accused is prejudiced by the amendment of an indictment or information has been said to be whether or not a defense under the indictment or information as it originally stood would be equally available after the amendment is made and whether or not any evidence [the] accused might have would be equally applicable to the indictment or information in the one form as in the other; if the answer is in the affirmative, the amendment is one of form and not of substance.

Medina v. State, 688 So.2d 727, 730 (Miss.1996) (quoting Griffin v. State, 540 So.2d 17, 21 (Miss.1989) (quoting Reed v. State, 506 So.2d 277, 279 (Miss.1987))); Also see Spears, 942 So.2d at 775. The purpose of this rule is to protect the rights of the defendant by preventing unfair surprise after he has diligently prepared his defense strategy. See URCCC 7.09. The issue here is not the sufficiency of the indictment, but whether amending the indictment compromised the defendant's rights by prejudicing his defense. "Due Process requires the State to prove each element of the offense charged in the indictment beyond a reasonable doubt." Hennington v. State, 702 So.2d 403, 408 (Miss.1997).

Alesich submits that jury instruction S-1 was an indirect amendment to the indictment. The amendment at issue was substantive in nature, materially changed an element of the original offense charged, materially altered the defense to the indictment and was reversible error as it circumvented the authority of the grand jury.

ISSUE NO. 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING ALESICH'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

In trial counsel's Motion for a New Trial, counsel specifically argued that the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. C. P. 48, R.E. 18 The trial judge denied this motion. C. P. 61, R.E. 22

In *Bush v. State*, the Mississippi Supreme Court set forth the standard of review as follows:

When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, we will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997). We have stated that on a motion for new trial, the court sits as a thirteenth juror. The motion, however, is addressed to the discretion of the court, which should be exercised with caution, and the power to grant a new trial should be invoked only in exceptional cases in which the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict. Amiker v. Drugs For Less, Inc., 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss.2000). However, the evidence should be weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict. Herring, 691 So.2d at 957. A reversal on the grounds that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, "unlike a reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not mean that acquittal was the only proper verdict." McQueen v. State, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss.1982). Rather, as the "thirteenth juror," the court simply disagrees with the jury's resolution of the conflicting testimony. Id. This difference of opinion does not signify acquittal any more than a disagreement among the jurors themselves. Id. Instead, the proper remedy is to grant a new trial.

Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005) (footnotes omitted).

In the present case, Alesich is at a minimum entitled to a new trial as the verdict was clearly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Only the testimony of Stephens would suggest that Alesich was inside the house. Tr. 75. The evidence presented to the court showed that the alleged assailant did not take any money or property from Stephens. Tr. 125. No evidence was presented that Alesich had any intent to commit a crime if in fact he was inside the house. Tr. 125.

In addition to the fact that the assailant did not receive any money, no physical or scientific evidence was presented at trial to show that Alesich was in the house during this alleged burglary. Tr. 97, 101. Officer Parrish stated that he attempted to lift fingerprints

from inside and outside of the home. Tr. 101. No fingerprints of Alesich were found from either inside or outside of the window, nor from a chair found outside of the window. *Id*.

In viewing State's Exhibits S-1 thru S-5, no person could fit through the small opening of the window screen. Exhibits S-1-5. Stephens stated that her screens were nailed on the window. Tr. 82. The screens appear to be bent, but the size of the opening appears to be very small. Exhibits S-1-5. Stephens testified that she did not go outside and straighten the window screen that night the pictures were taken. Tr. 82, 83. She also stated that her children did not go outside and straighten the window screen either. Tr. 83. If the window screen was not straighten, then Alesich could not have fit through the screen and went inside the house.

It would be an injustice for this conviction to stand in that no reasonable jury could convict Alesich based on the testimony of the witnesses, the identification, and the lack of any other type of physical evidence implicating Alesich.

The verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Alesich therefore respectfully asserts that the foregoing facts demonstrate that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and the Court should reverse and remand for a new trial. To allow this verdict to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *See Hawthorne v. State*, 883 So.2d 86 (Miss. 2004).

CONCLUSION

Melvin Alesich submits that jury instruction S-1 was an indirect amendment to the indictment. The amendment at issue was substantive in nature, materially changed an

element of the original offense charged, materially altered the defense to the indictment and was reversible error as it circumvented the authority of the grand jury.

The verdict was also against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and therefore the Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.