IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MELVIN ALESICH

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0875-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. JURY INSTRUCTION S-1 DID NOT AMEND THE BURGLARY INDICTMENT
- II. THE JURY'S VERDICT IS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 10, 1996 at approximately 4:00 a.m., Eva Stephens awoke to find an intruder climbing through her bedroom window. T. 74, 78. Eva screamed and recognized the intruder as Melvin Alesich, a brief acquaintance. T. 74, 75. Alesich lunged toward Eva and landed on her and her two-year-old daughter who was also in the bed. T. 74. Alesich tried to cover Eva's mouth as she and her daughter screamed, waking Eva's two other children. T. 74. Alesich ultimately let go of Eva, punched her in the face, and fled out of the window through which he had entered. T. 75. Eva called 911 and identified Alesich as her attacker. T. 75. Eva also told the dispatcher that Alesich drove a yellow truck. T. 76.

Gulfport Police Officer Christopher Parish responded to the burglary call. T. 91. When Parish arrived at Eva's home, he noticed that the area above her left eye was red and beginning to swell. T. 129. Detective Claud Guinn also testified that Evan's face was bruised and swollen when she came in to give a statement. T. 118. Eva again identified the intruder to Parish as Alesich. T. 92. Another officer, Lynette Woodard, who had been advised by dispatch that Alesich drove a yellow truck, patrolled the area near the victim's home. T. 106. When Woodard spotted a yellow Ford truck, she called the tag number into dispatch. T. 106. The truck was registered to Alesich. T. 106. Alesich came from behind a house and approached his truck. T. 109. As Woodard handcuffed Alesich, he stated that he was only trying to get Eva's attention. T. 110.

Alesich was tried and convicted by a Harrison County Circuit Court jury for house burglary.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Jury instruction S-1 sufficiently explained the elements of burglary to the jury, as the instruction substantially tracked the language of the burglary statute. Instruction S-1 did not amend the indictment. When read with instruction S-5, the jury was informed that the crime to be committed therein was larceny.

The jury's verdict is not against the weight of the evidence. Only one set of facts was presented to the jury. The jury was not asked to resolve conflicting testimony. The jury obviously found the State's witnesses to be credible, as evidenced by the verdict.

ARGUMENT

I. JURY INSTRUCTION S-1 DID NOT AMEND THE BURGLARY INDICTMENT

Alesich claims that jury instruction S-1 effectively amended the indictment because the indictment specified that the crime intended to be committed in the victim's home was larceny, whereas the jury instruction did not specify the crime to be committed therein. Rather, the jury instruction informed the jury that if it found beyond a reasonable doubt that after Alesich broke and entered the victim's home he "intended once inside this dwelling to commit some crime therein," that it must find the defendant guilty. C.P. 35.

The burglary statute which Alesich was charged with violating defines burglary as ". . . breaking and entering the dwelling house or inner door of such dwelling house of another, whether armed with a deadly weapon or not, and whether there shall be at the time some human being in such dwelling house or not, with intent to commit some crime therein" Miss. Code Ann. 97-17-23 (Rev. 1996). Our reviewing courts have repeatedly held that a jury instruction on the elements of the offense is sufficient when it tracks the language of the applicable statute. The instruction in question substantially tracks the language of the burglary statute, and is wholly sufficient.

Alesich claims that the instruction effectively amended the indictment because his original defense was that he had no intent to steal personal property, but the instruction forced him to change his defense strategy. This argument is disingenuous, as Alesich fails to even articulate why his original defense was no longer applicable due to the given instruction. Further, it is clear from the record that Alesich's defense was that he did not even break and enter the victim's home, a defense that was still applicable and still pursued after the granting of instruction S-1. T. 68, 158, 159, 160, 162.

Further, jury instructions are to be read as a whole. Milano v. State, 790 So.2d 179, 184(¶

14) (Miss.2001). "When so read, if the instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice, no reversible error will be found." *Id.* (quoting *Coleman v. State*, 697 So.2d 777, 782 (Miss. 1997)). Instruction S-5 states, "The Court instructs the Jury that if there is a breaking and entering a dwelling at night, accompanied by flight when discovered, an inference may be made that the object of the breaking and entering was theft, even though nothing was taken." C.P. 39. When read together with S-1, there can be no argument that the jury instructions amended the indictment. Accordingly, the appellant's first assignment of error must fail.

II. THE JURY'S VERDICT IS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

A reviewing court will not disturb a jury's verdict unless it is so contrary to the weight of the evidence that allowing the verdict to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (\$18) (Miss. 2005). Upon review, the evidence will be examined in the light most favorable to the verdict. Id. Alesich claims that only the victim's testimony proved that he was in her house. Our reviewing courts have repeatedly held that the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness is sufficient to support a jury's verdict. Cousar v. State, 855 So.2d 993, 998 (116) (Miss, 2003). Eva's testimony, however, was not uncorroborated. Two witnesses testified that part of Eva's face was starting to bruise and swell, confirming her story that Alesich punched her before he fled. Additionally, Alesich was arrested near the victim's home shortly after the burglary, when his yellow truck was spotted. Most importantly, Alesich effectively admitted to the burglary when he stated that he was only trying to get Eva's attention. The jury was also shown a picture of the window through which Alesich entered. Exhibit S-2. Eva testified that her screen had been nailed down. T. 82. The appellant claims that no person could have fit through the opening depicted in the pictures. However, it is an elementary principle that matters regarding credibility of the evidence presented are to be resolved solely by the jury. McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993).

There can be no serious claim that the verdict is against the weight of the evidence. The verdict is entirely consistent with the evidence. The jury was presented with only one account of the burglary, and it clearly found that the State's witnesses were credible. As such, the appellant's second assignment of error is without merit.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm Alesich's conviction and sentence.